1989

# Guy Erickson v. Wasatch Manor : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

### STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §78-2a-3(2)(j) (1988).

### STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether the trial court abused its discretion in admitting into evidence the testimony of Rebecca Helms, Jody Christensen and Colleen Mark, particularly where the court had previously and correctly ruled such testimony inadmissible?

a. Whether the original Order in Limine excluding the prior and subsequent slip and fall accidents was a correct ruling of law?

b. Whether the admission of such testimony on the very last day of trial constituted surprise which ordinary prudence could not have guarded against, and thus prejudiced Wasatch's defense.

2. Whether the trial court committed reversible error by giving Jury Instruction No. 20 over the objection of counsel for Wasatch Manor, Inc., causing the jury to improperly apply a higher standard of care to Wasatch Manor, Inc.?

3. Whether the court committed reversible error by refusing to grant Wasatch Manor, Inc.'s Motion for a New Trial?

### DETERMINATIVE STATUTES

There are no constitutional provisions, statutes, ordinances, rules, or regulations whose interpretation would determine the issues at hand.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### I. NATURE OF THE CASE

This action was instituted by the Plaintiff-Respondent, Guy Erickson, against Defendant-Appellant, Wasatch Manor, Inc. ("Wasatch"), who operates the Wasatch Manor Apartments in Salt Lake City. Erickson claimed that he was injured on February 9, 1985 when, while a resident of the Wasatch Manor Apartments, he slipped and fell on ice in the upper level of the Wasatch Manor Apartments parking lot.

Prior to the trial of this action, Wasatch moved the trial court (Judge Homer F. Wilkinson) for an Order In Limine excluding from evidence the testimony of four (4) witnesses regarding prior and subsequent slip and fall accidents allegedly occurring on the Wasatch Manor Apartments parking lot. It was Wasatch's contention that the prior and subsequent slip and fall accidents were not admissible because Erickson could not show that they occurred under substantially similar conditions as his own fall. The trial court granted Wasatch's Motion In Limine, and ruled that the testimony would not be admissible

unless Erickson established that the parking structure was defectively designed or constructed.

On the third and last day of trial, however, the court reconsidered its Order In Limine upon the Motion of Erickson's counsel, Eric Bjorklund. Despite the fact that Erickson had made no showing of a defect in the construction of the Wasatch Manor parking lot, the court decided to admit the testimony of prior and subsequent falls against the objections of counsel for Wasatch.

In addition, against the objections of counsel for Wasatch that Jury Instruction No. 20 was an incorrect statement of landlord/tenant law in Utah, the court instructed the jury that a landlord has a duty to exercise ordinary care to maintain the common walkways in a reasonably safe condition for tenants and guests, and that a landlord has a further duty to observe any dangerous condition known to him and to take reasonable steps to remedy or remove any such dangerous condition.

On May 19, 1989 the jury returned a verdict in favor of Guy Erickson, and judgment was entered on June 13, 1989. Thereafter, Wasatch filed a timely motion for a new trial, arguing that the admission of the testimony regarding the prior and subsequent falls constituted surprise and that the trial court erred in giving Jury Instruction No. 20. By Minute Entry dated August 7, 1989, and an Order dated September 19, 1989, Judge Wilkinson denied Wasatch's Motion for a New Trial.

Appellant Wasatch Manor, Inc. filed its Notice of Appeal on October 19, 1989.

## II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Wasatch Manor, Inc., operates the Wasatch Manor Apartments at 535 South 200 East, Salt Lake City, Utah. (R. 60). Erickson's Complaint (which was amended by Order of the trial court dated May 16, 1989) alleged that on February 9, 1985, while a resident of the Wasatch Manor Apartments, he slipped and fell on ice in the upper level of the Wasatch Manor parking lot. (R. 2, 214). Erickson brought this action to recover for injuries allegedly resulting from the February 9, 1985 slip and fall. (R. 2-7, 214)

According to Erickson's Complaint, the upper level of the Wasatch Manor parking lot is constructed in such a way that water from snow runs down the middle of the parking lot. (R. 3, 75, 214, 444 at p.12). It was alleged that on February 9, 1985, the upper terrace had been cleared of snow, and snow was piled in one area of the upper terrace. (R. 3, 214). Erickson further alleged that on February 9, 1985, the snow pile melted, the water ran down the middle of the parking lot, and froze during the night. (R. 3-4, 214). Further, the Complaint allege that around 11:15 p.m., Erickson fell on this ice which traversed the length of the parking lot, and that due to poor

lighting, Erickson did not see the ice before he fell. (R. 4, 444 at p.12).

Wasatch Manor and Salt Lake County had entered into a contract, whereby Salt Lake County paid Wasatch Manor for the privilege of its employees to park in the Wasatch Manor Apartments' parking lot. (R. 61). Four County employees claimed to have fallen on ice or snow in the parking lot. (R. 61-64, 438, 439, 441). Deposition testimony revealed the following information regarding the alleged falls of these four witnesses.

Colleen Mark, an employee of the Salt Lake County Treasurer's Office, claimed that she fell in November of 1984 on ice in the Wasatch Manor Apartments' parking lot. (R. 439 at p. 6). Ms. Mark claimed that on this occasion she was just getting ready to go to work. (Id. at p. 10.) She parked on the east side of the parking lot and was about an inch away from her car when she fell. (Id. at pp. 6-7.) Ms. Mark did not report her fall to Wasatch Manor, but reported it to her supervisor at the County Treasurer's office. (Id. at 11.)

Wanda Jo Christensen, an employee of Salt Lake County Assessor's office, claimed to have fallen twice at the Wasatch Manor parking lot. Her first fall allegedly occurred sometime between 1968 and 1971. (R. 438 at p. 5). Ms. Christensen alleged that she fell while walking down a ramp, at a time when there was both ice and snow on the ground. (Id. at 6.) Ms. Christensen did not report this fall to Wasatch

Manor. (Id. at 7.) The second fall allegedly occurred between 1984 and 1985. (Id. at p. 5.) Ms. Christensen had parked in a spot alongside of the building, and fell right near the door that goes into the Wasatch Manor Apartments. Ms. Christensen did not report her fall to Wasatch Manor, but asked the manager if she could walk through the lobby instead of walking down the ramp. (Id. at 11.)

Rebecca Helms testified at her deposition that she parked on the west side of the upper-level parking lot along the building. (R. 441 at p. 8). Ms. Helms claims to have fallen several times. Her first fall occurred about thirteen years ago. (Id.). At that time, she was parked on the immediately next available space on the east side of the row of parking spaces alongside the building. Ms. Helms allegedly fell on ice by the side of her car in the morning as she was going to work. Ms. Helms did not report the fall to Wasatch Manor. (Id. at 17, 18.) Ms. Helms' second fall probably occurred within the eight years prior to her October 1987 deposition. (Id. at 8.) This fall allegedly occurred around 8:00 a.m., farther north on the parking lot as Ms. Helms was going down the ramp. (Id. at 14.) The snow had not been removed, but the ice was visible. (Id. at 15.) Ms. Helms did not report it to Wasatch Manor, but believes she spoke to a person who loaded the garbage regarding the treatment of ice. (Id. at 16, 17.) Ms. Helms' most recent fall allegedly occurred in November or December of 1986. (Id.

at 8.) On this particular occasion, Ms. Helms parked on the west side of the parking lot along the building, and she was right behind her car when she fell. (Id. at 8, 10.) This fall also occurred around 8:00 a.m., while there was both snow and ice in the parking lot. It was not reported to Wasatch Manor. (Id. at 11, 13.)

Carol Back claimed that in the late 1970's, she fell by the ramp. She had parked along the east side of the parking lot, and walked towards the ramp, and was quite a distance from her car when she fell. (R. 63-64, 444 at pp.708). Ms. Back could see the ice in the parking lot before she fell. (R. 63-64). Ms. Back failed to report the fall to Wasatch Manor. (Id.)

Based upon the deposition testimony of the four witnesses, Wasatch moved the trial court for an Order in Limine excluding the testimony on the grounds that the prior and subsequent falls did not occur under circumstances substantially similar to Erickson's fall, and therefore were not relevant and or probative of Erickson's theories. (R. 58-59). In its Memorandum in Support of the Motion and at the hearing on the Motion, Wasatch pointed out that the depositions of the four County employees revealed that these witnesses could not pinpoint the dates of their alleged falls, that these falls were remote in time and some of them may have occurred more than thirteen years prior to the depositions, that the falls occurred in areas of the

parking lot other than the depressed area where Erickson allegedly fell, and that none of the witnesses reported any of their falls to Wasatch Manor personnel. (R. 60-71).

The Court ruled that such testimony would not be admitted absent a showing that the design or construction of the parking structure was defective. The Court's Ruling stated:

As far as the last issue is concerned, I have not made a study of the slip and fall cases as far as these prior accidents are concerned. I know I have had some experience as far as an automobile accident where there is a particular location in the highway of where a number of accidents have taken place. And I have not reviewed that either prior to taking the bench on this, but I do remember some of the things they say. And one of this is notice.

I do know that whether notice was given to the city, the highway department, and so forth as far as a dangerous condition is concerned, another thing they look at is the time element, whether it was one month, six months, five years, ten years and so forth. And of course the main thing is whether the condition was the same, the road signs were the same, the designation of the road, the line down the center of the road, and so forth, and things of this sort.

Well, this gets very difficult when you start talking about falls of 13, 15, 18 years ago. And I am going to rule this way: That if the plaintiff has evidence to show that there is, and he claims there is a dangerous condition which exists in that parking lot, engineering, construction where it was negligently constructed, where they made something that was negligent or defective and that people have fallen as a result of that, then I would allow prior falls.



If these prior falls are not in that same location as far as the depressed area of which he alleges is defective, such as going down the ramp or such as the other part of it, I just can't allow it. They are just not relevant as far as the situation is concerned. They may have fallen, and even some of them may have been five or ten years ago.

But if he can tie it in to a defective condition in construction, something of a negligent nature, then I will allow it within the same area. And it sounds like to me there is only one that does this, and that's the one on the west side of where somebody walked out in back of their car and fell.

\* \* \* \* \*

And I won't even allow that unless it can be shown that there was a defect as far as the construction which caused ice to form and people have been falling there. Of course that's even weak because still they didn't give notice to the principle, Wasatch Manor.

. . . . So I hope you understand my ruling. I am saying that I will not allow the prior falls unless it can be established that there was a defective condition there and they were falling as a result of that defective engineered condition.

(Emphasis added R. 443, attached as Appendix A).

On the last day of trial, even though Erickson had not introduced any testimony, expert or otherwise, regarding the design or construction of the parking structure, Erickson's counsel moved the Court to reconsider its prior Order based upon the affidavits of two witnesses. (R. 184-194). The Affidavit of Rebecca Helms stated that she fell into the depressed area of the

parking lot during the month of January 1985 or February of 1985. (R. 188). This statement was in contradiction to her deposition testimony that the most recent fall she had at the Wasatch Manor parking lot was in November or December of 1986, and the fall prior to that was sometime in the eight years prior to her deposition which was taken in October of 1987. (R. 441 at p. 8). Furthermore, Ms. Helms' deposition testimony made no mention of falling into the depressed area of the parking lot. (R. 441 at pp. 8-15). The Helms Affidavit also stated that within days of the supposed fall in January or February of 1985, she notified a man who worked for Wasatch and who was loading garbage at the time that the parking lot was icy and that she had fallen. (R. 188). This statement is again in contradiction to Helms' deposition testimony that she did not report the November or December 1986 fall to Wasatch personnel. (R. 441 at p. 11, 13). Ms. Helms' testified at her deposition that she had fallen three times on the Wasatch parking lot, but the only fall regarding which she spoke to the Wasatch employee who was loading garbage was the fall that occurred within the eight years prior to the taking of her deposition in October of 1987. (R. 441 at pp. 8, 16-17).

Similarly, the Affidavit of Jody Christensen stated that during the last two weeks of December 1984 or during the month of January 1985 she had fallen in the location marked with a dotted line on a diagram attached to the Affidavit. (R. 192,

the Affidavit of Jody Christensen is attached as Appendix B.) The diagram seems to indicate that the fall occurred in the same depressed area in which Erickson allegedly fell. (R. 194, Appendix B). This statement is in contradiction to Ms. Christensen's deposition wherein she testified that she could not recall whether the fall occurred in 1984 or 1985, let alone recall the month in which the fall occurred. (R. 438 at pp. 5, 15). In addition, in her deposition, Ms. Christensen repeatedly testified that she could not recall specifically where the fall occurred, but remembered only that it occurred near the door to the Wasatch Manor Apartments close to the cars parked alongside the west row of parking spaces. (R. 438 at pp. 8-10, 15-16). Christensen's Affidavit further stated that within a few days of her fall in December of 1984 or January of 1985, she told the manager of the Wasatch Manor Apartments that she had fallen and that the parking lot was unreasonably icy. (R. 192). However, at the time of her deposition, Christensen testified that she did not report the fall to anyone at Wasatch Manor. She only asked the manager if she could walk through the lobby instead of walking down the ramp. (R. 438, at p. 11).

The court thereafter held a hearing in the absence of the jury on Erickson's Motion to Reconsider. Nelson Hayes, counsel for Wasatch, vigorously objected to the admission of the testimony, arguing that the affidavits were in contradiction to the prior depositions, and that the admission of the testimony at

that point would be surprise to Wasatch who had relied on the court's prior Order and was not adequately prepared to cross-examine the surprise witnesses and to properly prepare Wasatch's defense. (R. 446 at pp. 52-56). In spite of Wasatch's objections and in spite of the court's prior Order which specifically excluded testimony regarding other falls unless it could be shown that the parking lot was defectively constructed and that the falls occurred around the same time and in the same area as where Mr. Erickson allegedly fell, the court admitted the testimony into evidence. The court stated:

I could stop it if it was not within the relative time. But it appears that this is within that time limit. So that is just admissible testimony, regardless. And so I can't do anything about it. As far as the falls are concerned, that the falls, if they can be related to the time and similar situations, then that is also admissible.

And if these falls took place, and based on what the testimony has been of the two principles of Wasatch Manor, if these falls have been during the '84-'85 season, and they were slipped on ice, the Court would allow testimony as far as falls. (Id. at pp. 55-56).

Erickson's counsel then called witnesses Rebecca Helms, Jody Christensen and Colleen Mark, each of whom testified regarding their falls on the Wasatch Manor parking lot. At trial Ms. Helms and Ms. Christensen both pinpointed their falls as having occurred in the same month or the month prior to Erickson's fall. (R. 446 at pp. 64, 87). They

further testified that they had in fact reported their falls to Wasatch Manor. Id. at pp. 62-63, 89). They even went so far as to identify Art Kersey in the court room as the Wasatch Manor employee with whom they spoke. (Id.)

Wasatch's counsel thereafter presented the defense of Wasatch through the testimony of Burton Miller, the manager of the Wasatch Manor Apartments, and Art Kersey, the engineer employed by Wasatch Manor Apartments. (R. 446 at pp. 121-140). Wasatch's counsel did not call any witnesses to rebut the testimony of Rebecca Helms, Jody Christensen and Colleen Mark.

At the trial of this matter, against the objections of Wasatch's counsel, the Court gave Jury Instruction No. 20, which states in pertinent part:

The defendant has a duty to exercise ordinary care to maintain the common walkways in reasonably safe condition for tenants and guests. The defendant has a further duty to observe any dangerous condition known to him or which by the use of reasonable diligence would have become known to him and to take reasonable steps to remedy or remove any such dangerous condition.

(Emphasis added, R. 223-256, Jury Instruction No. 20 has been reproduced in its entirety and attached as Appendix C.)

On May 19, 1989, the jury returned a verdict finding Wasatch Manor, Inc. negligent. The jury awarded a total verdict of \$84,820.15 to Erickson. (R. 446 at pp. 201-205).

On June 13, 1989, Judgment was entered on the verdict. (R. 280-281, attached as Appendix D).

On June 23, 1989, Wasatch filed a timely Motion for a New Trial on the grounds that the admission of the testimony of Christensen, Helms, and Mark on the last day of trial constituted surprise which prejudiced Wasatch's defense, and also on the grounds that Jury Instruction No. 20 incorrectly stated the standard of care required of a landlord. (R. 373-386). Wasatch presented its position and arguments to the court by filing a Memorandum of Points and Authorities and thereafter filing a Reply Memorandum in response to Erickson's memorandum objecting to the Motion. (R. 373-384, 409-414). On August 7, 1989, Judge Wilkinson issued a Minute Entry denying Wasatch's Motion for a New Trial. (R. 419, attached as Appendix E). The Minute Entry does not state the reasons for the court's denial of Wasatch's Motion. (Id.). An Order to the same effect was entered on September 19, 1989. (R. 420-421).

Wasatch hereby appeals from the judgment entered against it on June 13, 1989, and from the court's Order dated September 19, 1989, denying Wasatch's Motion for a New Trial.

### SUMMARY OF AGREEMENT

Wasatch appeals from the Judgment entered on September 19, 1989 on the grounds that (1) the testimony of Rebecca Helms, Jody Christensen and Colleen Mark was improperly admitted, and (2) that the Court improperly instructed the jury as to the standard of care required of a landlord. The trial court erred in admitting testimony which it had expressly excluded by its prior Order in Limine. The admission of such evidence was an abuse of discretion, because were it not for the improper admission, the jury would not have returned the verdict that it did against Wasatch. First, the original Order of the trial court excluding the testimony was the correct ruling in light of the law regarding the admissibility of prior and subsequent accidents. Secondly, the admission of such testimony in total contradiction to the prior Order was a complete surprise to appellant Wasatch, whose counsel had prepared Wasatch's defense with reliance upon the court's prior Order. Furthermore, because the trial court had the change of heart on the very last day of trial, at the very end of Erickson's presentation of his case, Wasatch was unable to produce rebuttal witnesses to contradict the surprise testimony.

The Court improperly instructed the jury that the defendant has a duty to exercise ordinary care to maintain the

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