1989

Guy Erickson v. Wasatch Manor, Inc. : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Wasatch obtained an Order in Limine by a misstatement and an omission of material facts to the court. Wasatch could not reasonably expect the court to enforce the Order in Limine when the court became aware of the actual facts. Ms. Medcalf, co-counsel for Wasatch, admitted that they expected that the women would be able to testify regarding their falls if testimony about the condition of the lot was submitted. They knew such testimony would be submitted. Mr. Hayes' conduct during cross examination was not consistent with a befuddled and surprised attorney. He was not surprised.

The claimed surprise could have been avoided by Wasatch by (1) not misstating and omitting facts to the court in obtaining the Order in Limine, (2) asking further questions during the deposition of the witnesses, and (3) talking to the witnesses before trial.

Mr. Bjorklund did not try to ambush Wasatch. Erickson had no choice but to wait until after Mr. Kersey testified at trial, to raise its Motion to Reconsider the Order in Limine, so the trial judge could hear Kersey's testimony with his own ears. Mr. Bjorklund did not refuse to tell the court what the ladies from the county would say. Mr. Bjorklund explained to the court that they were rebuttal witnesses and Mr. Bjorklund was uncertain as to what Kersey and Miller would say. Moreover, Wasatch had received specific written notice that the ladies from the county would testify and that their testimony would generally relate to the condition of the lot.

The testimony of Mrs. Helms and Mrs. Christensen was in the nature of rebuttal to Mr. Kersey's claim that no one had ever told him that they

had fallen. It is therefore admissible, notwithstanding any claim of surprise.

The testimony of the county employees so totally decimated the credibility of Mr. Kersey and Mr. Miller that the jury would have ruled in Erickson's favor notwithstanding the limited and benign testimony of Helms and Christensen regarding their falls.

Wasatch cannot articulate a plausible way that a retrial would help it prove a negative, i.e., that Helms and Christensen never fell or that they never told Kersey about their falls.

Mr. Hayes chose not to object to or move to strike any of the evidence regarding falls. Wasatch does not claim that the admission of the evidence of falls is "plain error." A substantial portion of the evidence of falls was solicited by Mr. Hayes on cross-examination, even when Mr. Bjorklund had not raised the issue on direct examination.

Instruction No. 20 is a correct statement of the law for dangerous conditions which are neglected by landlords and Wasatch's Point II of its Corrected Brief is frivolous and misleading.

This appeal has no likelihood of success. It mischaracterizes the facts and law. It is frivolous and is constituted for delay. Mr. Erickson is poverty stricken. Erickson is entitled to attorney's fees and sanctions.

POINT I

THE ORDER IN LIMINE WAS BASED ON INCORRECT FACTS

The trial court would have likely denied the motion in limine, had the trial court understood correctly the evidence which would be presented at trial. It is noteworthy that the factual presentation of Mr. Bjorklund to the trial court during the arguments about the Motion in Limine, accurately

reflected the facts as they unfolded during the trial. (Appendix C).

Mr. Hayes also understood the actual nature of the testimony that would be presented at trial. In his opening statement to the jury he indicated that they should have, ". . . empathy with these people in trying to think back to something that you did in February of 1985 and being absolutely exactly sure, unless by habit, by custom, that was your routine and that was your life." (R. 445 at 22). Emphasis added.

Mr. Hayes detailed Mr. Kersey's "routine" for the jury, (Id. at 24, 25). pointing to Erickson's probable attack on Mr. Kersey's routine and indicating it was, "probably the central issue of the case." (Id. at 26, 27). Mr Hayes' view of the case in his opening statement, as one focused on Kersey's "routine" is in stark contrast to his arguments in the Motion in Limine arguments three months earlier where he discredited Mr. Bjorklund's description of the "routine" issue and focused the court on a single occurrence.

Mr. Hayes made another material misstatement during the Motion in Limine Arguments when he indicated to the trial court that none of the women's falls occurred in the depressed area of the lot. (R. 433 at 10, 11). He urged from this misstatement, that the falls were so dissimilar as to not be admissible. In fact, Mrs. Christensen and Mrs. Helms had each indicated

in their depositions that they had a fall in the depression area during the time of Mr. Kersey's routine. 2/

Wasatch has made the same misstatement, about the falls not occurring in the depressed area, to this court in its docketing statement at page 3. Mr. Bjorklund thereafter mailed to Masuda Medcalf, co-counsel for Wasatch, a letter indicating concern with this continued misstatement and other misstatements in the docketing statement. (Appendix D). Mr. Bjorklund even referred her to the specific page of Mrs. Helms' deposition where

2/. Mr. Hayes stated to the trial court during the oral argument of the Motion In Limine, "Unequivocally, none of these women when I took their depositions claimed that they fell in an area that they described as an area of depression in the parking lot." (R. 433 at 10, 11). Mrs. Helms was unsure of the year she fell but estimated it to be in 1986, during a period that Kersey claimed he had followed his routine. (R. 441 at 9; R. 446 at 36). She identified her car as the "sage" or green buick which is in the second parking stall from the end on the south side (left side) of picture #2 of Exhibit #1 of her deposition. (Id. at 6). She indicated that her fall occurred, "Right behind my car where it's parked in that picture." (Id. at 10). Mr. Bjorklund asked, "Okay, so it was typical to find black ice down that depression? She answered, "It was, and this was where we fell, was in that area there." He asked, "In that particular depression?" She responded, "Yes, and the other time I fell here." Mr. Bjorklund sought clarification, "Now, when you first pointed to where you fell you pointed right behind your car? She affirmed, "Right, it was behind my car." (Id. at 27).

Mrs. Christensen testified in her deposition that her 1984-85 fall occurred, "right near the door" (R. 438 at 8). "Still in the parking lot. Now, when I say near the door, I don't mean direct up to the door but I mean opening to the door." (Id. at 9). "I know I stayed close to the cars because I held onto the cars. (Id. at 10). Mr. Bjorklund asked, referring to a car parked along the west edge of the parking lot in Exhibit #1 of Mrs. Christensen's deposition, "Now, when you fell a second time, was it somewhere in the area of that silver car?" She responded, "Somewhere in the area of it, yes." (Id. at 16). The car was identified at being 1 1/2 inches from the right side of picture #2 of Exhibit #1. (Id. at 15, 16). Looking at said picture one can see that her fall would be in the area of the dark line which were indicated by two arrows. The dark line is the lowest point of the depressed area and was a water stain. (Id. at 9). See also R. 190 and Plaintiff's Exhibit #3.

Helms acknowledged her fall was in the depressed area. Notwithstanding Mr. Bjorklund's letter, this misstatement was made again to this court in Wasatch's Corrected Brief at page 20.

After the judge had a chance to hear Mr. Kersey's testimony at trial with his own ears, Erickson moved the trial court to reconsider the motion in limine. (R. 184-194). The difference between the facts which were represented to obtain the Order in Limine and the actual character of the case were apparent to the court. In ruling on the motion to reconsider the judge stated, "And I don't think that when you ask me to reconsider a motion in limine, I don't think it goes to the motion in limine which I heard." (R. 446 at 55).

Rule 401 of the Utah Rules of Evidence provides that relevant evidence means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence more or less probable than it would be without the evidence. Had the court understood that certain falls occurred during the time period that Mr. Kersey claimed he did his routine and occurred in the same depressed area of the lot as Mr. Erickson's fall, the court may have well ruled it was admissible as having a tendency to show that it was more likely that there existed an on-going dangerous condition in the depressed area and, more importantly, that it was less likely that Mr. Kersey performed his claimed routine.

At trial, Mr. Bjorklund did not ask the court to reconsider the Order in Limine regarding Mrs. Mark. (R. 185). Her fall did not occur in the depressed area and in that sense could have been considered too dissimilar to be relevant. At trial, Mr. Bjorklund did not ask her about her fall.

At trial, Helms' and Christensen's claim of having fallen became admissible for an additional reason. Their claim that they had told Mr. Kersey of their falls directly rebutted his testimony that no one had told him of a fall. The ladies communications to Mr. Kersey about their falls was not known to either counsel, however, at the time of the arguments regarding the motion in limine.

Wasatch's Order in Limine was obtained by a misstatement of the facts of the case to the court. Wasatch cannot now claim to have reasonably relied on an Order obtained through misstatements and omissions.

POINT II

WASATCH WAS NOT SUBJECTIVELY SURPRISED AT TRIAL

By affidavit, counsel for Wasatch acknowledged that they should have known to expect the admission of testimony from Helms and Christensen about falls. Moreover, the conduct of counsel for Wasatch was not consistent with his claim of actual surprise.

In the affidavit of Masuda Medcalf, attached to Wasatch's memorandum in support of its Motion for a New Trial, she stated that, "Defendant's counsel also recognized that if they were to elicit any testimony from other Wasatch Manor residents to the effect that the parking conditions at Wasatch Manor during the 1984-1985 winter were safe, this would open the door to the testimony of the County employees." (R. 315, 316).

Of course, it is not the identity of the witnesses such as Wasatch Manor residents or county employees that would make the testimony of the ladies falls admissible. It is the testimony about Kersey's routine and the conditions of the parking lot during the 1984-1985 winter, that makes the

ladies testimony of falls admissible. As Mr. Hayes stated in his opening statement to the jury, this would be the central issue of the case.

At best, counsel for Wasatch must concede that they had just not thought through the anticipated testimony well. At worst, Ms. Medcalf's statement is a frank acknowledgement that Wasatch knew that when the court became aware of their "routine" defense, (which was inevitable) the testimony of the ladies falls would become admissible.

When Mrs. Helms and Mrs. Christensen testified about their falls, Mr. Hayes did not appear to be a befuddled and surprised attorney. After Mr. Hayes elicited on cross examination from Mrs. Mark that she had fallen, he immediately began to question her regarding the weather in November of 1984 and introduced the pre-marked weather report for November 1984 as Defendants Exhibit No. 27. (R. 446 at 109). In Mr. Hayes' closing argument to the jury he urged that the weather report showed that the temperature never got low enough in November for the lot to freeze as Mrs. Mark claimed. (Id. at 176, 177). If Mr. Hayes did not subjectively expect to talk with Mrs. Mark at trial about her fall, why did he have the November 1984 Exhibit marked and ready for submission? It had no other probative or relevant use at the trial.

Moreover, Mr. Hayes had subpoenaed Mrs. Beck, a county employee, to the trial. She could have only testified about her fall and the condition of the lot. If Mr. Hayes did not expect that Erickson would be able to present evidence of the other falls, why did he subpoena Mrs. Beck?

Note also that when Mrs. Christensen and Mrs. Helms were cross-examined by Mr. Hayes, he knew exactly what points to cross examine them on in their depositions. (R. 446 at 69, 73, 74, 75, 76, 81, 92, 95, 98, 99,

100). He did not request a recess or extra time to organize his thoughts. He was prepared. Promptly, he thoroughly cross examined these two witness, pointing out every detail where their trial testimony about their falls was not consistent with his understanding of their depositions.

Admittedly, this might simply be an indication of Mr. Hayes excellent preparation for any eventuality at trial. However, it does not seem consistent with the claim of genuine surprise.

POINT III

COUNSEL FOR WASATCH COULD NOT HAVE BEEN REASONABLY SURPRISED

In the argument regarding the Motion in Limine, Mr. Bjorklund indicated that Helms and Christensen had come to their deposition without any preparation for the subject matter or questions which would be asked them. (R. 444 at 16, 17). Neither Mr. Bjorklund or Mr. Hayes had talked with these women before their depositions. Their depositions (R. 438, 441) showed their uncertainty in remembering the specifics of their falls.

Mrs. Christensen remembered in her deposition testimony that her fall occurred "between 1984-1985". At trial she specified that her fall occurred in January of 1985. (R. 446 at 87). Mrs. Helms initially indicated in her deposition testimony that she could not remember the specific year of her most recent fall, but upon Mr. Hayes suggestion that it might have been 1986, she stated it was in 1986. At the trial she indicated her fall was in December of 1984 or January or February of 1985. (R. 446 at 64).

Given the uncertainty of these ladies in their deposition testimonies it is only reasonable to expect that they could refresh their recollections prior to their testimonies at trial. Their improved specificity in

remembering dates does not indicate a "total contravention" of their prior testimony, as claimed by Wasatch, but only a refinement.

Both Mrs. Helms and Mrs. Christensen denied that they had "reported" their falls to Wasatch Manor in their deposition testimony. One of the most common definitions of "report" provided in "Webster's New Twentieth Century Dictionary," Unabridged, Second Edition, 1978 is, "[A] formal or official presentation of facts or of the record of something, as an investigation, law case, etc." It is reasonably possible from the context of their deposition testimony that when Mr. Hayes was asking if the ladies had "reported" their falls to Wasatch manor, they considered the word "report" to have its normal meaning as something much more formal than "mentioning" the fall to the man who lowers and raises the garbage.

Erickson has recited in the factual recitation of this brief, the passages where this subject was discussed in the ladies' depositions. Pages 13, 14 and 15 herein. Also attached to this brief as Appendix E, are Mr. Hayes' cross examinations of these ladies regarding this same issue. Erickson has underlined the use of the word "report" as opposed to other words used by the ladies to describe their communication.

Note the tendency to correlate "report" with industrial claims by Mrs. Helms. Note also that when the women use their own words to describe the communications to Kersey they do not use "report."

Certainly, Mr. Hayes' reading of the depositions to mean that the women never communicated to anyone at Wasatch Manor about their falls is reasonable and fair. However, it is also reasonable to consider that he might have obtained information from the ladies about their falls had he used a word other than "report"

In the case of Anderson v. Bradley, 509 P.2d 339 (1979 Utah), the court noted that counsel could not claim surprise because an officer's statement at trial was different than during discovery. The Court noted that the officer's statement was not necessarily inconsistent with the officer's prior testimony. Similarly, Helms' and Christensen's testimonies at trial are not necessarily inconsistent with their deposition testimonies.

When Mrs. Christensen explained in her deposition that she asked the Manager if she could go through the lobby because she was petrified of the ramp, it is noteworthy that Mr. Hayes did not ask if she "talked" to the manager about anything else. When Mrs. Helms said she had commented to the Wasatch manor employee who raised and lowered the garbage that the lot was treacherous and needed salting, Mr. Hayes did not ask her if she had "commented" about anything else. He might have obtained their statements of additional communications regarding their falls simply by asking more questions during their deposition.

During the argument regarding the Motion in Limine, Mr. Bjorklund stated to the court his belief that the ladies could substantially improve their recollection, in light of their lack of preparation at their depositions. He urged that because of that and also because of the very different renditions of the potential facts of the case, the court should wait to rule on the issue, to see what the testimony might actually be. (R. 444 at 17).

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